### Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1951

## O. K. Clay v. Stephen L. Dunford et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Arnold G. Kartchner came to his death on the 24th day of June, 1950, following an automobile accident which occurred on that date at about the hour of 4:50 o'clock P.M. He left surviv-

ing him as his only heirs-at-law two children, Edna Smith, a daughter, and Dean Kartchner, a son. The plaintiff, O. K. Clay, was appointed by the District Court of Salt Lake County as the administrator of his estate, and, as such administrator, brought this action to recover damages from the defendants growing out of said accident. It is claimed by the plaintiff and the children of the deceased that the death of the deceased was caused by the negligence of one Montell Eccles Mangum, who at the time of the accident was driving a bread truck in the business of the defendants who operate the Dunford Bread Company. A trial was had before a jury and a verdict of no cause of action was returned. The accident occurred on the south side of 13th South Street in front of the deceased's home at No. 316 East 13th South Street. Briefly stated the material facts are as follows:

A map' Exhibit "A" was prepared by Frank J. Cossey a member of the Engineering Department of Salt Lake City (T. 149). The map is drawn to a scale of one inch to 10 feet. The traveled portion of 13th South Street is covered with asphalt. On the north side of the street the asphalt extends over to the north sidewalk. The distance between the south edge of the north sidewalk and the north edge of the south sidewalk is 50 feet (T. 151-152). The distance across the asphalt portion is 40 feet. The distance from the north edge of the south sidewalk to the south edge of the traveled portion of the highway is 18 feet (Exhibit "A.") There is an irregular strip of asphalt which extends beyond the main traveled portion of the highway. The south irregular edge of the asphalt extends to a point approximately 10 feet north of the north edge of

the south sidewalk. This ten feet consists of dirt, some gravel, and some weeds and is not used for motor vehicle travel.

Officer Peterson of the Salt Lake City Traffic Department made an investigation of the accident. He testified (T 57) that the macadam or hard portion of 13th South is approximately 41 feet extending from the sidewalk on the north; that south of the hard portion of the road, there is approximately 9 feet of dirt, gravel, and shoulder; that the impact occurred 167 feet east of an extended curbline on the east side of 3rd East, and 3 feet from this extended curbline north toward the road; that from the north edge of the south sidewalk to the south edge of the hard portion of the road is approximately 9 feet (T 57-60); that the station wagon was approximately 5 feet wide and was parked within one foot of the sidewalk facing easterly (T. 58). The Dunford bread truck was 99 feet east of the point of impact and partly on the shoulder of the road and facing the sidewalk (T. 59). The officer said (T. 60) that he determined the point of impact from scuffed marks, scraped marks on the station wagon itself, dented door handle on the left front door, brush marks along the fender and hood, the car itself was dusty and the marks were very recent; it was brushed clean, the dirt and dust in several places on the fender and hood had been brushed clean. There was a rear vision mirror on the side of the left front door that had been broken off and was lying on the left front fender of the station wagon (T. 60).

On the extreme right front of the Dunford truck there was a slight dent and brush marks about 5 feet 9 inches from the ground; on the right front door post there was a deep

impresson of what we believed to be specks of fresh blood and small portions of flesh; pictures of the automobiles involved were taken by Officer Snell. Exhibit "C" is a photograph of the Kartchner station wagon parked in front of his home (T. 45). Also it will be noted from Exhibit "E" that the defendants' driver had ample space to have avoided hitting the deceased in this action had he been keeping a proper lookout. The picture shows that if two cars were traveling abreast and going east, north of the station wagon that they would still not have been on the main traveled highway in this position (T. 81-85). Exhibit "D" is a photograph of the bread truck where it came to a stop after the accident (T. 48). It will be observed from this photograph that the left front wheel is slightly off the hard surfaced portion of the road and the distance between that point and the south sidewalk is indicated on the photograph. Exhibit "B" shows the interior of the bread truck and certain spots and marks testified to by Officer Peterson on the outside of the truck (T. 63). We found brake marks of the bread truck on 13th South that extended from a point approximately 37 feet west of the rear wheels of the bread truck in a slanting direction toward the curb (T. 64). 13th South has a rather gentle slope off toward the South on the south side of the road; the north side of the road is more or less level. The brake marks of the Dunford truck lead to the station wagon which showed a rather slow arc in the shoulder up along side the station wagon. The tracks started in a slow turn going away from the hard surface of the road and then gradually came back toward the hard surface (T. 67). The tracks started about 100 feet west of the station wagon and went east toward the station wagon

(T. 68). The point of impact was off from the hard surface of the road (T. 69). At the time of impact, the tire marks of the bread truck were moving away from the station wagon; that would be the general direction (T. 70). Officer Peterson placed upon the Exhibit "A" the general course of the tire marks at the point they left the hard surfaced portion of the highway up to the point of impact with the station wagon. These marks are indicated by the red pencil marks starting at the irregular south edge of the asphalt, then turning to the south over the shoulder of the road, then back again toward the hard surfaced portion of the highway, and then stopping at the point where the bread truck struck the deceased (T. 71). On the right door post as indicated in the picture of the bread truck, there was what appeared to be blood stains on the door post itself (T. 74). Officer Peterson placed on the map, Exhibit "A," a red pencil dot to indicate the point of impact (T. 75). At the time the course of the bread truck was indicated by Officer Peterson, the replica of the station wagon was not on the map and Officer Peterson testified after the replica of the station wagon was placed on the map that the red lines indicating the course of the bread truck did not give a true picture, and that the tire marks went to the point of impact. That is as far as we could follow them (T. 76). The station wagon was entirely off the hard surfaced portion of the highway. The left hand side of the station wagon was approximately 3 or 4 feet south of the edge of the hard surfaced portion of the roadway. I would think the point of impact would be a foot or two north of the car and possibly a foot or two off the road surface (T. 78).

ũ.

Œ.

ő

Mr. Montell Eccles Mangum, the driver of the defendants truck, testified that he made a wide turn on 3rd East and 13th South Street, and after he had completed his turn, he was looking straight east (T. 171); that he observed particularly a station wagon automobile parked along the south side of the road fairly close to the sidewalk and facing east, but he did not observe any person in the vicinity of that automobile: that in his best judgment, he was traveling 20 miles per hour (T. 172). As he passed the station wagon, he heard a thud on the side of the truck and didn't have any idea of what had happened, but applied his brakes to stop and investigate, and thought posisbly that some kids had thrown something; he looked at the side of the truck and saw a man lying in the road. Prior to the moment when he heard this thump or bump, he did not see Mr. Kartchner (T. 173), and he was observing down the street at that time; that he traveled 13th South Street between 3rd and 4th East five or six days a week and was well acquainted with that street as well as the hard surface thereon, also the shoulders on the side and where they parked their cars, but had never seen people get out of their cars parked at that place; that he did not always drive as close to parked cars as he did on that day and he did it on that day because of heavy traffic (T. 174). He had a clear, unobstructed view from the corner up to the station wagon and was looking all the time and never did see Mr. Kartchner (T. 175); that he had a conversation with the brothers and Mr. Kartchner's mother (T. 176). In that conversation the driver said he explained to them that he turned to go up the street, and that it happened so fast he didn't know how it happened; that he didn't tell them that

he wasn't looking; that he did not see the door of the station wagon open (T. 177); that he was traveling about 20 miles per hour when he heard the thud; that he had a good view of the truck as shown by plaintiff's Exhibit "B"; he had no idea he had struck a man (T. 179). There was nothing to obstruct his view on his side of the highway; that he was off the edge of the asphalt and on to the loose gravel (T. 181)

The witness Keith Roberg, 10 years of age, testified that Kartchner had just closed the door when he got hit (T. 105; that deceased did not talk to him after he had closed the door (T. 109).

0

£:

Œ

T.

1

g Ì

ř.

et i

91

Ĭ.

**(11**)

The witness Ross C. Bradshaw was driving west on 13th South and was 60 or 75 feet east of the accident when it occurred. The Dunford bread truck was going toward the parked station wagon and he glanced over and saw Mr. Kartchner, the deceased, standing by the side of his car facing east (T. 91); that the truck hit Mr. Kartchner, rolled him along the front fender, over the hood of the station wagon, rolling him hand over foot (T. 91-92); that the deceased at the time of the accident was not standing much over a foot away from the car, that he did not see the deceased get out of the car-that he first noticed him standing at the side of the station wagon facing east. From the time he saw him until the time he was struck was approximately one second; that he was struck by Mr. Mangum driving the Dunford bread truck; that from his observation Mr. Kartchner, the deceased, was struck from 6 to 9 feet off the main traveled portion of the road; that there were no other automobiles on the highway at the time between Bradshaw and the station wagon, nor were there any automobiles in front of the Dunford bread truck at the time; the road was clear except for the Dunford bread truck going east and Bradshaw going west (T. 95-96).

The witness Mrs. Ellen Roberg, was present at a conversation on a Tuesday night about 6:30 or 7:30 P.M. after the accident, and the driver of the Dunford bread truck was also present together with other members of the deceased's family. At that time and place, the driver of the Dunford bread truck stated that he was looking down at his book or seat and he didn't know what happened (T. 190-191).

#### STATEMENT OF POINTS

#### POINT I

The appellant asserts that the lower court erred in the giving of Instruction No. 7.

#### POINT II

That the court erred in giving Instruction No. 10.

#### POINT III

The court erred in submitting to the jury the question of assumption of risk on the part of the deceased for the reason that there was no issue between the parties which gave rise to the application of this doctrine and for the reason that the facts and circumstances shown by the evidence fails to indicate that the deceased could have assumed the risk of getting out of his station wagon on the left hand side.

#### POINT IV

The court erred in failing to give plaintiff's requested Instruction No. 3, in toto, substantially or in a modified form (T. 26).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The evidence in this cause, as detailed in the statement of facts, shows without substanital dispute that on the afternoon of January 24, 1950, the deceased, Arnold Kartchner, parked a station wagon which he was then driving, on the south side of 13th Street immediately in front of his home and premises at No. 313 East 13th South Street; that his station wagon was parked within a matter of inches from the north edge of the south sidewalk. When he stopped at this point, a young boy, Keith Roberg, came over to his car and talked to the deceased. The deceased then opened the left hand door of the station wagon, got out of the car, shut the door, and was standing at the side of the station wagon facing east when he was struck by the truck of the defendants, driven by their employee, Montell Eccles Mangum.

The testimony shows that the deceased was not more than a foot to the north of the station wagon. 13th South Street is covered with a hard surfaced material commencing at a point approximately 10 feet north of the north edge of the south sidewalk, and that the south edge of the travelled portion of 13th South Street is 18 feet north of the north edge of the south sidewalk. The parked station wagon is approximate-

ly 5 feet in width; the replica of the station wagon attached to Exhibit "A" is not drawn to accurate scale because this replica would indicate the station wagon to be approximately 71/2 feet in width, whereas in fact, this width should not exceed 5 feet, according to the testimony (T. 58). The station wagon therefore occupied 5 feet of the space between the north edge of the south sidewalk and the traveled portion of the highway. The south side of the station wagon was within 6 inches to 1 foot from the north edge of the south sidewalk and Mr. Kratchner as he left the station wagon was about 1 foot north of the north side of the station wagon. This left a distance of at least 11 feet between the point where Mr. Kratchner was struck and the south edge of the traveled portion of the highway, and 3 feet from the extreme irregular edge of the hard surfaced portion of the road. These distances can well be calculated from the map, Exhibit "A," and from the testimony of the various witnesses.

When the defendants' truck struck the body of the deceased, it rolled him along the side of his station wagon and over the left fender. The course of the defendants' truck as it moved away from the traveled portion of the highway to the point of impact is not in substantial conflict. It is clear that the truck left the traveled part of the highway and turned in a slow arc until it struck the deceased. It is apparent from the course of the truck that the driver realized where he was a short distance from the point of impact, that he was heading toward the station wagon, because he then attempted to turn back on to the highway. The space between the south edge of the traveled portion of the highway to the north edge of the south sidewalk is 18 feet and this space is not ordinarily

used for motor vehicle travel, and that the area immediately north of the south sidewalk was used for the parking of automobiles.

There can be little doubt but that the operator of the defendants' bread truck was guilty of negligence. Any doubt as to the right of the plaintiff to recover in this action would arise because of the application of the doctrine of contributory negligence. As to the negligence of the driver of the bread truck, it is admitted that his view of the street ahead of him was unobstructed. Mr. Bradshaw testified that there were no cars between his car moving west and the bread truck moving east. Mr. Mangum, the driver of the defendants' truck, admitted that after he made the turn to go east from 3rd East Street on 13th South, that he saw the station wagon of the deceased parked along the south side of the road parked parallel and close to the sidewalk, but that he did not see the deceased; that he was traveling about 20 miles an hour (T. 171-172). Mr. Mangum admitted that he stated a few days following the accident that he had turned to go up the street and that "It happened so fast that I didn't know how it happened" (T. 177). He also stated that he did not see the door of the station wagon open although it is clear that Mr. Kartchner did open the door, did get out of his car, shut the door, and was standing at the north side of the car facing east when he was struck (T. 177). Mr .Mangum on crossexamination (T. 178) was asked:

Ei

Ľ.

Œ.

53

T

[]

2

Q. How could he have gotten out without opening the door?

- A. He couldn't.
- Q. He must have opened the door and you never saw him open the door, did you?
  - A. No, sir.
- Q. And you never saw him because you weren't looking, were you?
  - A. It all happened so fast that I couldn't.
  - Q. Answer my question. You weren't looking, were you?
  - A. I was looking straight ahead.
  - Q. And you didn't see him?
  - A. That's right.
  - Q. And you didn't see the door open?
  - A. That's right. (T. 178).

The court in the light of the testimony instructed the jury on the question of the defendant's negligence in Instruction No. 6 (T. 14) that every driver of an automobile shall exercise due care to avoid colliding with any pedestrian upon or near any roadway to do any and all things which may appear necessary to avoid colliding with and injuring a pedestrian, and that a driver is not excused from responsibility when he does not see a person which by the exercise of proper caution

and observation he could have seen, and that if the jury believed from the evidence that the deceased was in plain view of the driver of the defendant's truck, and that the driver either saw or by the exercise of proper caution and observation could have seen the deceased, and that he failed to do so, that such want or care on the part of the driver of the bread truck would constitute negligence. We think this instruction correctly presented the question of the defendants' negligence to the jury and on the basis of such instruction and the undisputed facts, there could be no questoin but what a jury would have been compelled to find the defendants guilty of negligence in causing or contributing to the death of the deceased. In fact it would seem clear from the evidence that the court could well have told the jury that the defendants' driver was guilty of negligence as a matter of law.

#### POINT I

In the light of the testimony above detailed, the court instructed the jury by Instruction No. 7 (T. 15) as follows:

"You are instructed that a person cannot deliberately incur an obvious risk of personal injury, particularly when there is a safe course of action open to him, and then hold the author of the danger liable in damages for any injuries sustained.

If you find from the evidence in this case, that the deceased, Arnold Kartchner, placed himself in a position of obvious peril when there was no reasonable justification therefor, then the said Arnold Kartchner is deemed to have assumed the risk of his course of conduct and your verdict must be in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, no cause of action."

This instruction was duly excepted to (T. 208).

We contend that this instruction is clearly in error. No reasonable claim could be made that the deceased was negligent in parking his station wagon on the south side of 13th South Street within a matter of inches from the north edge of the south sidewalk. He placed his car in the area used for parking automobiles along the street. If the deceased could be regarded as being in any way negligent, it would arise out out the fact that he got out of his station wagon from the north or left hand side which would be a point closer to the traveled portion of the highway than if he had left his automobile on the right hand side.

Under the wording of this instruction, the jury might well have concluded that the deceased was negligent as a matter of law in getting out of his station wagon on the left hand side. The instruction at least assumes that there was some evidence in the case from which the jury might conclude that the deceased deliberately incurred an obvious risk of personal injury. This thought is further projected into the instruction in the second paragraph where the court states: "If it is found that the deceased placed himself in a position of obvious peril without justification, then the deceased is deemed to have assumed the risk of his course of conduct, and that the jury must then find the issues against the plaintiff."

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