1951

## O. K. Clay v. Stephen L. Dunford et al : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

Mangum testified that he had to stop at the stop sign at 3rd East Street, to allow traffic on 13th South to clear. He also testified that it was necessary for him to make a rather wide left hand turn on to 13th South Street because the traffic was heavy.

The investigating police officers testified that traffic along 13th South Street at that hour of the day was quite heavy, and the plaintiff's Exhibit E, which is a photograph taken shortly after the occurrence of the accident, shows a heavy stream of traffic proceeding along 13th South Street. Deceased must have known these facts;

and he would be chargeable with the common knowledge as to the danger of stepping from the safety of an automobile into a heavily traveled street without observing to determine whether any traffic was approaching.

As said by the Supreme Court of Michigan in the case of *James v. Florios*, 248 Mich. 153, 226 N.W. 852:

“Walking from behind and going beyond a standing vehicle into a pathway open to traffic is a fruitful source of accident and an ordinarily prudent man will in view of the possible danger in doing so, exercise the essential precaution of ascertaining whether the way is open and may reasonably be expected to remain open to his crossing.”

In *Weaver v. Pickering*, 279 Pa. 214, 123 Atl. 777, the Court said:

“In the instant case plaintiff seemed oblivious to danger and chose to walk by faith across a busy city street; in so doing *he assumed the risk.*” (Italics ours.)

It is next argued by the appellant that the language of the instruction placed upon the deceased a higher degree of care for his own safety than that of reasonable care under the circumstances. In making this argument appellant has apparently misconstrued the language of the instruction. The first paragraph of the instruction was taken almost verbatim from 38 *Am. Jur.*, pp. 845-6, *Negligence*, Sec. 171, and reads as follows:



“One cannot deliberately incur an obvious risk of personal injury, especially when preventive measures are at hand, and then hold the author of the danger for the ensuing injury.”

See also the same authority at page 859, *Negligence* Sec. 182:

“A person who, by his own act, subjects himself unnecessarily to danger violates the duty imposed upon all men to use ordinary care for their own safety and is guilty of contributory negligence. The law imposes upon a person, sui juris, the obligation to use ordinary care for his own protection, the degree of which is commensurate with the dangers to be avoided; and one who voluntarily and unnecessarily assumes a position of danger, the hazards of which he understands and appreciates, cannot recover for an injury from a risk incident to the position.”

We do not see how appellant can argue, with any degree of logic, that this instruction is tantamount to a directed verdict for the defendants. The language clearly states that *if* the jury finds that the deceased placed himself in a position of obvious peril and that there was no reasonable justification therefor, then, in that event, the deceased assumed the risk. Under the language of the instruction, the jury was not bound to find that by stepping from his automobile into the path of the defendants' approaching automobile, the deceased placed himself in obvious peril. The jury was merely permitted, (not required) under the language of the instruction, so

to find. Of course, in admitting that the language of the instruction, would permit the jury to find that the deceased did not place himself in a position of obvious peril we do not admit that the evidence would have warranted a finding to that effect.

At the conclusion of his argument under Point I, plaintiff cites a number of cases. We have carefully examined all of these authorities and we do not see that they are at all germane to the argument. In all of the cases cited by the plaintiff the question presented to the appellate Court was whether there was sufficient evidence to warrant the submission to the jury of the issue of the defendant's negligence or whether the evidence showed that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law. In none of the cases cited by appellant is there any discussion of any instruction in any wise similar to the instruction of which plaintiff complains in the case at bar. The holdings of the various courts in the cases cited by the plaintiff merely hold that under the particular facts of those cases, that the evidence warranted a finding of negligence on the part of the defendant, or, that the plaintiff was not guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law, or both. In the instant case both the issues of defendants' negligence and deceased's contributory negligence were submitted to the jury, and decided adversely to the plaintiff. Appellant having had the benefit of a jury determination of those issues, he is entitled to nothing more under the holdings of his own authorities.

It should also be observed here, that all of the cases cited by appellant are quite different on their facts from the case at bar. The most important difference is the fact that in *all* of the cases cited by the plaintiff, the evidence clearly showed that the plaintiff was in a position along side the road for a sufficient length of time that he could have been and should have been observed by the defendant. As has been pointed out in our statement of facts, the evidence in the case at bar shows without dispute that the deceased was not in a position where he could have been observed by the defendants' driver, but, on the contrary, that he stepped suddenly and without warning from a place of safety directly into the pathway of defendants' approaching vehicle. We shall develop this point more fully under Point V hereof. Suffice it at this time to quote from two or three of the cases cited by appellant wherein the difference between the two classes of cases is shown.

In *Shannon v. Thomas* (Cal. App.), 134 P. (2d) 522, cited in appellant's brief, at page 26, the Court said:

"The situation here present is not akin to that which exists where a pedestrian is about to cross a street and thereby places himself in the path of danger or suddenly steps out in front of and in the path of an oncoming automobile or walks into the street or upon a railway track without looking at all as was the situation in several of the cases relied upon by respondent."

In *Stephenson v. Parton*, (Wash.), 155 Pac. 147, cited in plaintiff's brief, at page 23, the Court said:

"\* \* \* If, as is contended by the appellants, the deceased was in a place of safety, and stepped in front of the automobile where there was no chance to avoid being struck, the deceased was guilty of negligence."

In *Hadley v. Simpson*, (Wash.), 115 Pac. (2d) 675, the difference was pointed out in the following language:

"The facts differentiate this case from such cases as *Hamblet v. Soderburg*, 189 Wash. 449, 65 P. (2d) 1267, and *Estill v. Berry*, 193 Wash. 10, 74 P. 2d 482, upon which respondent puts much reliance. Decisions of which those are typical, hold that a pedestrian is guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law (1) where he walks into the side of an automobile which was in plain sight at the time he said he looked and did not see it; (2) where, without looking he steps from behind a parked automobile or other object into the path of an oncoming car."

The Court's Instruction No. 7 was based upon ample evidence and correctly stated the law.

## POINT II.

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE COURT'S INSTRUCTION NO. 10.

For the convenience of this Court we set forth the trial court's Instruction No. 10, which was as follows:

"You are instructed that every person is bound to the exercise of vigilance with the view to discovery of perils by which he may be menaced and their avoidance after they are ascertained. Every person is bound to use due diligence to save his person from injury by the negligent act of another.

"If you find from the evidence in this case that the deceased, Arnold Kartchner, failed to exercise vigilance to discover the approach of traffic and particularly to discover the truck being then and there operated by Montel Mangum and that such failure to exercise vigilance was a proximate cause of the fatal injury sustained by the said Arnold Kartchner, then your verdict must be in favor of the defendants and against the plaintiff, no cause of action."

It is apparently the position of appellant that the language of this instruction placed upon the deceased a higher duty of care than ordinary or reasonable care. Appellant has apparently construed the word "vigilance" to mean a degree of care higher than ordinary or reasonable care. Although the word "vigilance" has various meanings, we do not believe that it can be construed to mean anything other than ordinary care, as used in the language of the instruction, taken in its context and in light of the other instructions of the Court. The word is defined in the American College Dictionary, page 1356 as watchfulness. It is given the same definition in Black's Law Dictionary at page 1817. The first paragraph of Instruction No. 10 was taken from 38 *Am. Jur.*, page 865, *Negligence* Sec. 189, which reads as follows:

“Every person is bound to the exercise of vigilance with a view to the discovery of perils by which he may be menaced and their avoidance after they have been ascertained. Every person is bound to use due diligence to save his person from injury by the negligent act of another.”

In *Shearman & Redfield on Negligence*, Vol. 1, pp. 249-250, it is stated that ordinary care implies the use of such *watchfulness* and precaution to avoid coming into danger and such effort to escape from or mitigate it when actually in danger, as a person would ordinarily use for his own protection under the same circumstances.

A very similar case on this point is *Mathews v. Dudley* (Cal.), 297 Pac. 544. In that case the court instructed the jury with respect to a driver's duty as follows:

“You are instructed that a driver has no right to assume that the road is clear, but under all circumstances and at all times he must be *vigilant* and must anticipate the presence of others. *The fact that he did not know that anyone was on the highway is no excuse for conduct which would have amounted to recklessness if he had known that another vehicle or person was on the highway.*

“I further instruct you that a person lawfully and carefully driving upon a highway has the right to assume that all persons using the highway will also use ordinary care and caution. This rule allows drivers of motor vehicles to as-

sume that motor vehicle drivers will obey and abide by the traffic laws and regulations." (Italics ours).

In holding that the word "vigilant" was synonymous with ordinary reasonable care, the Supreme Court of California said :

"The gravamen of defendants' objection is directed against the use of the word 'vigilant' in the foregoing instruction, and counsel for the appellants quotes certain definitions of that word as given in several dictionaries. The word, however, has numerous significances and synonyms, depending upon the particular place and context in which it is used and also to the subject to which in its various uses it relates. One of the meanings given to this word 'vigilant' is that contained in the Century Dictionary, wherein it is defined as 'watchful, awake and on the alert; attentive to discover and avoid danger, or to provide for safety; circumspect; cautious; wary.' If each of these synonyms of the word 'vigilant' has been employed in the instruction complained of, it could hardly, in respect to the duties of the driver of an automobile upon the public highways, be said to have been erroneous. But, however that may be, the instruction complained of has been approved by the appellate tribunals of this state in a number of decisions, some of which are the following: Meyers v. Bradford, 54 Cal. App. 157, 201 P. 471; Wright v. Salzberger, 81 Cal. App. 690, 701, 254 P. 671; Truitner v. Knight, 83 Cal. App. 655, 661, 257 P. 447; Alkus v. Davies, 86 Cal. App. 355, 260 P. 894; Rush v. Lagomarsino, 196 Cal. 308, 317,

237 P. 1066, and Hatzakorzian v. Rucker-Fuller Desk Co., 197 Cal. 82, 99, 239 P. 709, 41 A.L.R. 1027. We discover no prejudicial error in the giving or refusing to give any of the instructions of which the appellants complain, nor any other error on the part of the trial court which would warrant a reversal of this case.

“The judgment is affirmed.”

This holding has been consistently followed by the California Courts. See the recent case of *Caselegno v. Leonard*, 105 Pac. (2d) 125, reviewing the decisions and reaffirming the doctrine.

In the case of *City Ice and Fuel Co. v. Center*, 54 Ohio Appeals 116, 6 N.E. (2d) 580, the trial court instructed the jury that the driver of a backing vehicle should exercise “vigilance” not to injure those behind. The instruction was in the language of a state statute. On appeal the defendant contended that the statute was unconstitutional as not laying down a definite standard of care. The appellate Court held that the language of the statute could only be interpreted to mean reasonable care, which was a sufficiently definite standard. The Court also quoted with approval from the above cited case of *Mathews v. Dudley*.

The word “vigilance” was used by this court synonymously with “proper look-out” in *Conklin v. Walsh* (Ut.) 193 Pac. (2d) 437, 439.



The Court's Instruction No. 10 must be read in conjunction with the Court's Instruction No. 1, whereby the jury was instructed that the defendants relied upon contributory negligence as a defense; Instruction No. 3 which defined contributory negligence as want of ordinary care; and Instruction No. 11 which advised the Jury in effect that one negligent party could not recover against another.

The use of the word "vigilance" in the Court's Instruction No. 10, did not have the effect of imposing upon the deceased any higher duty than that of reasonable care, nor of misleading the jury as to the degree of care to which deceased should be held. The word "vigilance" could not import anything other than ordinary care, particularly when interpreted in the light of the Court's other instructions and the generally accepted meaning of the word.

At the conclusion of his argument under Point II, appellant states that the cases cited under his Point I are equally applicable to his Point II. We can only say in response, that they are equally inapplicable. All that was said under our Point I with respect thereto, is applicable with the same force under this point. As previously observed, appellant's cases do not involve the interpretations of any instructions.

## POINT III.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN SUBMITTING TO THE JURY THE QUESTION OF ASSUMPTION OF RISK ON THE PART OF THE DECEASED.

As heretofore noted, appellant take the position under Point I of his argument, that the Court's Instruction No. 7 was an instruction on contributory negligence. Under Point III of his argument appellant contends that Instruction No. 7 was an instruction on assumption of risk, and from this premise he argues that the Court erred in giving the instruction for the reason that the defendants did not plead in their answer the defense of assumption of risk. Appellant then cites the general rule that instructions to the jury should conform to the issues presented by the pleadings and that ordinarily it is error to instruct the jury on issues not raised by the pleadings.

It should first be observed that in taking exception to the Court's Instruction No. 7, the plaintiff did not assign as one of the reasons therefor, the submission to the jury of an issue not pleaded. Rule 51 U.R.C.P. provides as follows:

"No party may assign as error the giving or the failure to give an instruction unless he objects thereto. In objecting to the giving of an instruction the party must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection."

The manifest purpose of this rule is to draw to the attention of the trial court the particular grounds upon which an instruction is claimed to be erroneous, and to give the trial court an opportunity to correct any error which may have been committed. Although appellant excepted to the giving of Instruction No. 7, he did not state as one of his grounds therefor, that this instruction submitted to the jury an issue not raised by the pleadings. For this reason appellant is now foreclosed from raising the issue, and appellant's Point III is not entitled to be, and should not be considered by this Court.

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